

**Matrix-Assisted Diffusion-Ordered Spectroscopy:  
Application of surfactant solutions to the resolution of isomer  
spectra**

Cláudio F. Tormena,<sup>a</sup> Robert Evans,<sup>b</sup> Stephan Haiber,<sup>c</sup> Mathias Nilsson<sup>b</sup>, and Gareth A. Morris<sup>b\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>*Chemistry Institute, University of Campinas, Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil CP 6154 – CEP 13094-971*

<sup>b</sup>*School of Chemistry, University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL, United Kingdom*

<sup>c</sup>*Givaudan, Dept Analyt Res, Huizerstr 28, NL-1411 GP Naarden, Netherlands*

**Abstract**

The component spectra of a mixture of isomers with nearly identical diffusion coefficients cannot normally be distinguished in a standard diffusion-ordered spectroscopy (DOSY) experiment, but can often be easily resolved using matrix-assisted DOSY (MAD), in which diffusion behaviour is manipulated by the addition of a co-solute such as a surfactant. Relatively little is currently known about the conditions required for such a separation, for example how the choice between normal and reverse micelles affects separation, or how the isomer structures themselves affect the resolution. The aim of this study was to explore the application of sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) normal micelles in aqueous solution and sodium 1,4-bis(2-

ethylhexyl)sulfosuccinate (AOT) aggregates in chloroform, at a range of concentrations, to the diffusion resolution of some simple model sets of isomers such as monomethoxyphenols and short chain alcohols. It is shown that SDS micelles offer better resolution where these isomers differ in the position of a hydroxyl group, while AOT aggregates are more effective for isomers differing in the position of a methyl group. For both normal SDS micelles and the less well-defined AOT aggregates, differences in the resolution of the isomers can in part be rationalised in terms of differing degrees of hydrophobicity, amphiphilicity and steric effects.

### **Introduction**

NMR spectroscopy is the first choice technique for structure elucidation of pure materials in solution,<sup>[1]</sup> but for mixtures it is often difficult or even impossible to assign resonances to an individual species. Techniques such as HPLC, HPLC-NMR and HPLC-NMR-MS, which physically separate the components present in a mixture, are generally used for this purpose. These chromatography-based methods require specialist equipment, and they are not applicable to intact mixtures, which is of particular importance e.g. when studying interactions between species or when volatile compounds are present.<sup>[2-6]</sup>

Volatile compounds are common in mixtures from fermentation processes, where alcohols are the most important components.<sup>[7-11]</sup> Alcohols containing four, five and six carbon atoms are the most abundant odour and flavour components of fermentation beverages.<sup>[7]</sup> In addition to such volatile compounds, some phenolic derivatives can also be found as products of fermentation processes.<sup>[12]</sup>

Analytical methodologies such as Diffusion-Ordered Spectroscopy<sup>[13,14]</sup> (DOSY), that involve only a virtual separation (i.e. the signals from different compounds are disentangled without the need for physical separation), can be applied to volatile samples as an alternative to traditional techniques. The advantages of such virtual separation techniques include simplicity, ease of sample preparation, and economy; they also avoid the need to combine expertise in two distinct areas.

DOSY<sup>[15-17]</sup> allows NMR signals of different species to be distinguished by virtue of their different diffusion behaviour. DOSY techniques are typically applied to mixtures containing species of different sizes (hydrodynamic radii) and hence different diffusion coefficients. The analysis of mixtures of species of similar size (e.g. isomers) by conventional DOSY is difficult and often impossible.<sup>[18]</sup> However, it has been shown<sup>[19-33]</sup> that diffusion behaviour in DOSY experiments can be manipulated by adding a co-solute or co-solvent. In principle, the use of surfactants (and/or other co-solvents) in DOSY could afford the NMR spectroscopist the same degree of freedom to separate *signals* as is enjoyed in the use of liquid chromatography to separate *species*. Thus, for example, surfactants can be used as co-solutes for the systematic manipulation of diffusion resolution, changing the criteria by which molecules are differentiated in a DOSY experiment, but such methods have to date attracted surprisingly little attention.<sup>[19,27-29]</sup>

It was shown recently<sup>[30]</sup> that SDS micelles can be used as separation agents to distinguish between the isomers of methoxyphenol in DOSY experiments. Successful resolution of isomer spectra is seen over a very wide range of concentrations of solutes and of surfactant. Resolution is even seen in some cases at surfactant concentrations below the normal critical micelle concentration (*cmc*) and in solutions where the

Tormena 27/3/12 15:11  
**Deleted:** Diffusion-Ordered Spectroscopy (  
Tormena 27/3/12 15:11  
**Deleted:** )

surfactant concentration is significantly less than that of the solutes, the presence of solute decreasing the concentration of surfactant needed for micelles to form.

While micellar surfactant systems as aids to signal resolution in diffusion-ordered NMR spectroscopy are only just beginning to be exploited, their use in other fields such as capillary electrophoresis is well-established (see e.g. reference 34). There is an extensive literature on the interactions between solutes and micelles; slightly confusingly, the topic is often referred to as “solubilization”. While a strict definition restricts the use of this term to the dissolution by a surfactant system of a material that is otherwise insoluble or only sparingly soluble (see e.g. references 35-37 and references therein) – i.e. to the case where solutes are in saturated solution in the solvent phase – it is now often used in the much looser sense of the study of solute – micelle interactions irrespective of the solubility of the solute in the solvent.<sup>[38]</sup> NMR has played a major part in building the understanding of solute-micelle interactions.<sup>[35,36,39]</sup>

In the present study two types of system, methoxyphenols and medium chain length alcohols, were investigated. The behaviour of methoxyphenol isomers in  $\text{CDCl}_3$  solutions containing AOT aggregates is reported, and the results are compared with those for aqueous SDS micelles. SDS in water forms well-characterised, large, relatively monodisperse micelles. AOT in chloroform, in contrast, forms much smaller aggregates for which the term “reverse micelles”, while commonly used, probably exaggerates the degree of order. For the alcohols a systematic investigation of the range of concentrations over which diffusion resolution is obtained using normal SDS and AOT aggregates is reported for isomeric mixtures containing respectively 1- and 2-butanol, 2-methyl-1-butanol, 3-methyl-1-butanol and 3-methyl-2-butanol, 1-, 2- and 3-pentanol, and 2-methyl-1-pentanol and 4-methyl-1-pentanol. The binding of short chain

alcohols, including many of those studied here, to aqueous SDS micelles at high surfactant concentration (229 mM) has previously been investigated by Stilbs.<sup>[40]</sup> SDS micellisation can be disrupted by short chain alcohols at high concentration,<sup>[41,42]</sup> but here the total alcohol concentrations remained too low for such effects to be seen.

## Experimental

All measurements were carried out non-spinning on a 400 MHz Varian INOVA spectrometer, using a 5 mm indirect detection probe equipped with a  $z$ -gradient coil producing a nominal maximum gradient of  $30 \text{ G cm}^{-1}$ . DOSY data were acquired using the Oneshot pulse sequence<sup>[43]</sup> with a total diffusion-encoding pulse duration  $\delta$  of 5 ms, a diffusion delay  $\Delta$  of 60 ms and 10 nominal gradient amplitudes ranging from 3.0 to  $27.3 \text{ G cm}^{-1}$ , chosen to give equal steps in gradient squared; each FID was acquired using 32k data points. The experiments were carried out at a nominal probe temperature of  $25 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}$  for SDS samples, with standard VT regulation. For AOT samples experiments were carried out without active temperature regulation, at the nominal probe quiescent temperature of  $19 \pm 1 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}$ , to avoid convection in the  $\text{CDCl}_3$  solutions.

DOSY spectra were constructed in the DOSY Toolbox<sup>[44]</sup> by standard methods,<sup>[15,16]</sup> using fitting to a modified Stejskal-Tanner equation parameterized to take into account the effects of pulsed field gradient non-uniformity.<sup>[16,45]</sup> Reference deconvolution<sup>[46]</sup> was used to correct for instrument inconsistencies,<sup>[47,48]</sup> with Gaussian target lineshapes chosen to optimize the resolution of signals. For the methoxyphenols, diffusion coefficients were obtained using the proton signals of the methoxy groups or, where the latter are overlapped, signals of aromatic protons. For the alcohols the protons

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:19

**Deleted:** and

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:19

**Deleted:** in the case

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:19

**Deleted:** y

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:20

**Deleted:** the

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:19

**Deleted:** were used

Tormena 27/3/12 15:53

**Deleted:** , and

Tormena 27/3/12 15:53

**Deleted:** f

Tormena 27/3/12 15:37

**Deleted:** carbinolic

alpha to the hydroxyl group were used, in each case because the signals concerned were well-resolved with no overlap.

All chemicals used in this study are commercially available and were used without further purification. Stock solutions for all compounds, SDS and AOT were prepared in D<sub>2</sub>O and in CDCl<sub>3</sub>, and were diluted as necessary to obtain the concentrations used in this study; the concentration ratio [AOT]:[H<sub>2</sub>O] was maintained at approximately 1:1 throughout to keep the AOT aggregate composition consistent. TMS and TSP [sodium 3-(trimethylsilyl)-1-propanesulfonate] were used as chemical shift reference for CDCl<sub>3</sub> and D<sub>2</sub>O samples respectively.

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:22

**Deleted:** The amount of water was chosen to force the AOT system to self-aggregate in non-polar solvent (CDCl<sub>3</sub>), in which the polar head group point inward "encapsulating" the water molecules and the hydrocarbon chains point toward to non-polar medium.

## Results

Simple spectra with sharp lines for all species were seen for all the samples studied, confirming that solutes (methoxyphenols and short chain alcohols), AOT and SDS all remain throughout in fast exchange on the chemical shift timescale between free and micellar/aggregate solution. The DOSY spectra for the *ortho*-, *meta*- and *para*-methoxyphenol isomers in normal CDCl<sub>3</sub> solution show similar diffusion coefficients for all three isomers, as is the case in D<sub>2</sub>O solution.<sup>[30]</sup> As with D<sub>2</sub>O, however, when DOSY spectra were obtained for a solution containing methoxyphenol isomers and AOT aggregates in CDCl<sub>3</sub>, significant differentiation in diffusion coefficient was observed between isomers (Fig. 1). (At this composition, the methoxy signals for the meta and para isomers are partially overlapped, and, as noted above, the diffusion coefficients were determined using the aromatic signals.)

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:25

**Deleted:** As can be seen from Figure 1, at the present

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:24

**Deleted:** experimental condition

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:23

**Deleted:** methoxy group for

Tormena 27/3/12 15:55

**Formatted:** Font:Italic

Tormena 27/3/12 15:55

**Formatted:** Font:Italic

Results were fitted to a simple, if limited, model in which it is assumed that surfactant molecules S assemble to form aggregates S<sub>n</sub> of uniform size, and that these in

turn associate with solute molecules A without the aggregation equilibrium being affected and with an association constant independent of the number of solute molecules bound.



In such a model the bound  $[A]_b/[A]_0$  and free  $[A]_f/[A]_0$  solute fractions may be expressed in terms of a critical aggregate concentration or critical micelle concentration (*cmc*) for the surfactant, the total surfactant concentration  $[S]_0$ , and an association constant  $K$  defined in terms of the concentration  $[S]_m = [S]_0 - cmc$  of surfactant monomer in aggregate form:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{[A]_b}{[A]_0} &= \frac{K([S]_0 - cmc)}{1 + K([S]_0 - cmc)} \\ \frac{[A]_f}{[A]_0} &= \frac{1}{1 + K([S]_0 - cmc)} \end{aligned} \quad [1a,b]$$

Here the association constant  $K$  in terms of aggregate surfactant monomer concentration is equal to the  $K_S$  defined in chapter 1 of reference.<sup>[35]</sup> If, finally, the diffusion coefficient  $D_m$  of the aggregates is assumed to be unaffected by bound solute, the average surfactant and solute diffusion coefficients  $D_S$  and  $D_A$  may be expressed in terms of the corresponding free diffusion coefficients  $D_S^0$  and  $D_A^0$ :

$$\begin{aligned} D_S &= \frac{D_S^0 cmc + D_m([S]_0 - cmc)}{[S]_0} \\ D_A &= \frac{D_A^0 + D_m K([S]_0 - cmc)}{1 + K([S]_0 - cmc)} \end{aligned} \quad [2a,b]$$

Tormena 27/3/12 16:11

Deleted: 3

This model is quite a reasonable, if limited, approximation for aqueous solutions containing SDS, for which well-defined micelles are formed and the assumption of constant aggregate size is appropriate over the concentration range of interest here, but a much less good approximation for AOT, which forms small aggregates of variable size and does not show a simple *cmc*. It also does not take into account obstruction effects, which can be significant at high surfactant concentrations. For the purposes of comparing solute binding affinities for analytical purposes, however, the model performs adequately for both systems and provides a useful framework for the quantitative description of the effects of the micellar matrix on solute diffusion. If experimental data on surfactant solutions in the absence of other solutes are used to find the quantities  $D_S^0$ ,  $D_m$  and *cmc*, the only free parameters for fitting experimental solute diffusion data are the free diffusion coefficient  $D_A^0$  and the apparent association constant  $K$ .

The effect of AOT concentration on the diffusion of the methoxyphenol isomers was investigated using six samples containing 20 mM of each of the three isomers, varying the concentration of AOT from 52 to 310 mM. All six samples were well above the two *cmcs* reported previously for AOT in chloroform (0.8 mM obtained by both UV and NMR,<sup>[49]</sup> and 6.5 mM by NMR<sup>[50]</sup>). The diffusion coefficients for the methoxyphenol isomers are plotted as a function of AOT concentration in Fig. 2a. Increasing the AOT concentration leads to a significant decrease in diffusion coefficient for *meta*- and *para*-methoxyphenol isomers, while a lesser decrease is observed for the *ortho* isomer. The decrease in diffusion coefficient for TMS is less than that for the methoxyphenols, confirming that the decrease in diffusion coefficient for the latter solutes is at least in part due to association with AOT aggregates rather than to viscosity



or obstruction effects. The strongest association (i.e. the lowest diffusion coefficient) is seen for *m*- and *p*-methoxyphenols, while the weakest is observed for *o*-methoxyphenol; this behaviour is opposite to that seen for the methoxyphenol isomers in aqueous SDS, where the degree of separation between isomers is greater than in AOT.<sup>30</sup>

The dotted line for  $D_{\text{AOT}}$  in Figure 2a shows the behaviour predicted assuming an effective *cmc* of 6.5 mM, and free and aggregate diffusion coefficients of  $3.65 \times 10^{-10} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$  and  $1.5 \times 10^{-10} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . Measurements of the effect of AOT concentration on diffusion coefficient in  $\text{CDCl}_3$  carried out for this work showed a limiting diffusion coefficient of  $3.65 \pm 0.1 \times 10^{-10} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$  below 0.8 mM, but no clear *cmc* and aggregation behaviour that was very dependent on water concentration. The estimated aggregate diffusion coefficient of  $1.5 \times 10^{-10} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$  was therefore obtained by optimising the fit of the experimental data for AOT in the mixtures studied here, with approximately equal AOT and water concentrations, rather than in dry chloroform. As noted above, the associative model is a poor description of the aggregation behaviour of AOT in chloroform, as reflected in literature values for the *cmc* that vary over almost an order of magnitude. The *cmc* used here is the higher of the two values previously reported by NMR,<sup>[48]</sup> but the experimental data show that a sharp *cmc* is a poor representation of the aggregation behaviour. As expected, the variable aggregate sizes for AOT lead to significant differences between the calculated and experimental values for the average surfactant diffusion coefficient, but the differences are sufficiently small not to perturb the fitting of the solute diffusion coefficients  $D_{\text{A}}$ , and hence the quantitative estimation of binding affinity, too greatly.

When the concentration of AOT was increased from 51 mM to 206 mM, deshielding was observed for the OH groups, the chemical shift changing from 5.30 to

6.54 ppm ( $\Delta\delta = 1.24$  ppm) for *m*-methoxyphenol and from 5.67 to 6.93 ppm ( $\Delta\delta = 1.26$  ppm) for *para*-methoxyphenol. The chemical shift change for *ortho*-methoxyphenol was much smaller than that observed for the *meta* and *para* isomers, from 5.74 to 6.08 ppm ( $\Delta\delta = 0.34$  ppm), providing further evidence that the *meta* and *para* isomers associate more strongly with AOT, and suggesting that this association involves some degree of penetration of the OH group into the aggregate.

The effect of varying the solute:cosolute concentration ratio at constant AOT concentration was investigated by measuring diffusion coefficients in a further six samples (Fig. 2b) in which the concentrations of the three methoxyphenol isomers were increased from 19 to 114 mM, while keeping the concentration of AOT fixed well above the *cmc* at 52 mM. Again the separation ratio between the isomers was almost constant over the concentration range studied (Fig. 2b). Interestingly, Figure 2b shows that the simple model described above, which predicts average solvent diffusion coefficients independent of solute concentration, performs well even when the total solute concentration (i.e.  $3\times$  the concentration of the individual solutes) approaches that of the surfactant.

In an attempt to improve the separation between *meta*- and *para*-methoxyphenol isomers, the solvent used to obtain the AOT aggregates was changed. Normally, the “core” solvent is water; however recently<sup>[51]</sup> it has been demonstrated that aggregates or reverse micelles can also be obtained using non-aqueous polar solvents such as formamide, dimethylformamide, ethylene glycol and glycerol. Various different concentrations of water, ethylene glycol and glycerol were used to obtain AOT aggregates in the present study, and almost the same degree of separation (around 3%) between *meta*- and *para*-methoxyphenol isomers was found throughout. This suggests

that, under the present conditions, the hydrophilic core of the aggregate is not a dominant influence on association, with the rider that the solutes may rather be associating with the outer layer.

As noted earlier, volatile compounds are common in mixtures from fermentation processes, where alcohols are the most important components. Short chain alcohols are responsible for the odour and flavour of fermentation beverages, so their identification during the fermentation process is a key step in assessing the quality of final product. Matrix-Assisted DOSY can be applied to volatile samples as an alternative to traditional techniques. As a test, a set of short chain alcohols was chosen and a systematic investigation of the range of concentrations over which diffusion resolution is obtained using normal SDS micelles and AOT aggregates is reported.

The effect of SDS concentration on the diffusion of the 1-butanol and 2-butanol isomers was investigated using eight samples containing 20 mM and 24 mM of each isomer, respectively, varying the concentration of SDS from 6.3 to 194 mM. The first two samples were around the critical micelle concentration (*cmc*) of SDS in D<sub>2</sub>O of ca. 7 mM<sup>[52]</sup> while the others were well above the *cmc*.

The apparent diffusion coefficients for butanol isomers are plotted as a function of SDS concentration in Fig. 3a. Increasing the SDS concentration leads to a significant decrease in diffusion coefficient for both butanol isomers. The decrease in diffusion coefficient for TSP is less than that for the butanols, confirming again that at least part of the decrease in diffusion coefficient for the alcohols is due to association with SDS micelles rather than to viscosity or obstruction effects. It is clear looking at the samples with high SDS concentration that stronger association (i.e. lower diffusion coefficient) is seen for 1-butanol than for 2-butanol. In the absence of SDS the opposite behaviour is

observed, 1-butanol diffusing slightly faster than the 2-butanol isomer. Thus the two diffusion coefficients approach each other for SDS concentrations between 12 and 25 mM and then separate again, in the opposite order, at higher SDS concentration. As expected for SDS, which shows a sharp *cmc* and for which the associative model works well, the values seen for SDS are in good agreement with those calculated from the literature *cmc* of 7 mM. The close agreement down to low [S] shows that the solutes neither perturb micellisation significantly nor advance its onset.

A clear differentiation between 1-butanol and 2-butanol isomers was also found using AOT aggregates in CDCl<sub>3</sub> for six samples containing 47 mM of each isomer, varying the concentration of AOT from 24 to 428 mM. All six samples were well above [the \*cmc\* values reported for AOT in chloroform.](#)<sup>[49,50]</sup> The diffusion coefficients for butanol isomers are plotted as a function of AOT concentration in Fig. 3b. As before, increasing the AOT concentration leads to a significant decrease in diffusion coefficient for both isomers, and the smaller decrease in diffusion coefficient for TMS confirms that the changes in butanol diffusion are due in part to association with AOT aggregates. Association is stronger for 1-butanol, as in aqueous SDS solution, although the reasons for this are likely to be different in the two different surfactant systems. [The maximum difference in diffusion coefficient seen was 9%, compared to 13% for SDS solution.](#) Once again, the poor adherence to the associative model leads to experimental AOT diffusion coefficients rather higher than those predicted by the model, but as previously this does not significantly perturb the fitting of the solute *D* values. As Figure 3 shows, the spectra of these isomers can quite easily be differentiated using either aqueous SDS micelles or AOT aggregates in CDCl<sub>3</sub>. Of the two systems, aqueous SDS solution is generally preferable to AOT in chloroform for matrix-assisted DOSY experiments,

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 16:39

**Deleted:** the *cmc* of AOT in chloroform of 0.8 mM.<sup>[47]</sup>

primarily because water convects much less readily than chloroform, but also for cost reasons and because aqueous stock solutions of surfactant evaporate much more slowly than those in chloroform.

The same methodology was applied to a sample containing 1-pentanol, 2-pentanol and 3-pentanol isomers. However, in this case the differentiation in aqueous SDS solution between pentanol isomers is more marked than for the butanol isomers, as shown by the results in Figure 4. The fit to the associative model follows the same path as previously, except that the solutes in this case cause a clear reduction in the SDS *cmc*. The effect of this on the fitting of the solute diffusion coefficients is very small, as only a very small proportion of the solute molecules are involved at such low micelle concentrations. The *cmc* in the presence of the pentanols is straightforward to determine; fitting the experimental surfactant diffusion coefficients to Equation 2a with  $D_m^0$  and *cmc* allowed to vary gives a *cmc* of 4.6 mM. [The solute binding seen in chloroform/AOT solution was, as for the butanols, qualitatively similar to that in water/SDS but slightly weaker.](#)

Similar behaviour was found when MAD experiments were applied to differentiate between 2-methyl-1-butanol, 3-methyl-1-butanol and 3-methyl-2-butanol isomers, using aqueous SDS micelles and CDCl<sub>3</sub> AOT aggregates (Fig. 5). For aqueous SDS solution (Fig. 5a) the strongest association between micelles and methyl-butanol isomers occurs for species where the OH group is located at the end of the carbon chain (2-methyl-1-butanol and 3-methyl-1-butanol), while the weakest is observed for 3-methyl-2-butanol.

Only very slight differentiation between 2-methyl-1-butanol and 3-methyl-1-butanol is seen here when using SDS micelles (Fig. 5a), though the secondary alcohol is

well resolved; once again, the solutes significantly advance the onset of micellisation for SDS. All three isomers (2-methyl-1-butanol, 3-methyl-1-butanol and 3-methyl-2-butanol) can be differentiated using  $\text{CDCl}_3$  AOT aggregates (Fig. 5b), although the differences are small. The somewhat greater ability of AOT aggregates to differentiate between the 2-methyl-1-butanol and 3-methyl-1-butanol isomers may be attributable to the bulky structure of the AOT polar head group, which contains two carbonyl ester groups and a sulphate group bonded to an asymmetric carbon, posing greater steric demands than the head group of SDS. Experiments were also performed with 2-methyl-1-pentanol and 4-methyl-1-pentanol, using aqueous SDS micelles and  $\text{CDCl}_3$  AOT aggregates. For both types of solution, 2-methyl-1-pentanol and 4-methyl-1-pentanol showed similar discrimination to that observed (Fig. 5) for 2-methyl-1-butanol and 3-methyl-1-butanol.

The apparent association constants  $K$  and solute diffusion coefficients  $D$  found by fitting of the experimental data are listed in Tables 1 and 2, along with logP data<sup>[53]</sup> on the octanol:water partition coefficients of the solutes investigated.

## Discussion

Comparison between the data presented here for methoxyphenol mixtures in AOT/ $\text{CDCl}_3$  solutions and those presented earlier<sup>[30]</sup> for SDS/ $\text{D}_2\text{O}$  solutions shows both that the factors determining the strength of association between solute and micelles/aggregates are different in the two media, and that both media show useful diffusion resolution between isomers (albeit only partial in the case of AOT) over a wide range of solute and surfactant concentrations.

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 15:59

Deleted: (Fig. 5)

The range of chemical space covered in the study of alcohol mixtures allows some of the factors determining association to be explored in greater detail. The relative affinities of the different solutes investigated for SDS micelles and for AOT aggregates are correlated in Fig. 6 with experimental and calculated logP values. The latter provide a useful quantitative index of relative hydrophilicity/phobicity. If the association between solutes and micelles were entirely determined by the thermodynamic drive to partition between environments of different hydrophobicity, all points for a given aggregate type would be expected to lie along a straight line of unit slope.

It can be seen immediately that there is indeed an approximately linear general correlation between logP and logK for alcohols in SDS solution, but that there is essentially no correlation for AOT solutions. Taken together with the observation noted above that the association of these solutes with AOT aggregates is relatively insensitive to the polar medium providing the core of the aggregates, this suggests that medium effects *per se* are not the primary determinant of solute binding in such systems, but that more specific interactions with the AOT head group are involved. This suggestion is reinforced by the sensitivity to alkyl chain branching and to the position of the hydroxyl group, which have the effect of reducing binding as the steric demands they impose increase.

Steric effects also play a clear role in modulating medium effects in the association between alcohols and SDS micelles, causing branched chain and secondary alcohols to show lower association constants than those for the straight chain primary alcohols. The effects of increasing chain length and of chain branching on binding of alcohols to SDS micelles have previously been rationalised by Stilbs<sup>[38]</sup> in terms of an increment in binding free energy of 2.6 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> per CH<sub>2</sub> unit, and of packing

constraints in the micellar environment. The changes in binding between 1-butanol and 1-pentanol and between 2-methyl-1-butanol and 2-methyl-1-pentanol are in almost exact agreement with the previous observations. In the case of SDS micelles, a third factor comes into play at low surfactant concentrations. While the SDS diffusion data in Fig. 3 show good agreement with diffusion coefficients calculated using the known *cmc* and diffusion coefficients for free SDS and for SDS micelles, the data of Figs. 4 and 5 show clearly that the presence of the longer chain alcohols leads to an earlier onset of micellisation. Thus in addition to logP and stereochemistry, the degree of amphiphilia of solutes also plays a part in determining the extent to which the diffusion coefficients of different species are modulated by the presence of surfactant.

The main practical consequences of the observations reported here for analytical applications are twofold. First, differences in diffusion behaviour caused by the presence of surface-active agents in solutions of mixtures are seen over a very wide range of relative and absolute surfactant concentrations. Thus matrix-assisted DOSY using surfactant solutions (sometimes termed micelle-assisted DOSY) is likely to be relatively robust with respect to experimental conditions (as indeed are other analytical methods that exploit association between solutes and surfactant aggregates). Second, the multifactorial relationship between solute structure and association strength bodes well both for the use of matrix-assisted DOSY for distinguishing the NMR spectra of isomeric species, and more generally for its versatility and specificity as an analytical tool.

## **Acknowledgments**



Helpful discussions and stimulating debate with Professor Peter Stilbs are gratefully acknowledged, as is support from the Givaudan Strategic Research Fund, and from the Fundação de Amparo a Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) for a fellowship Programa Novas Fronteiras (C.F.T. grant reference 09/02736-9). This work was supported by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (Grant Numbers EP/H024336/1 and EP/E05899X/1).

### References:

- 1 J. H. Simpson, *Organic Structure Determination using 2D NMR Spectroscopy: A Problem-Based Approach*, Academic Press, Burlington, 2008.
- 2 L. Rebière, A. C. Clark, L. M. Schmidtke, P. D. Prenzler, G. R. Scollary, *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2010**, *660*, 149-157.
- 3 N. Sabatini, M. R. Mucciarella, V. Marsilio, *LWT - Food Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *41*, 2017-2022.
- 4 F. Bianchi, M. Careri, E. Chiavaro, M. Musci, E. Vittadini, *Food Chem.* **2008**, *110*, 787-793.
- 5 H. Stashenko, C. Macku, T. Shibamoto, *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **1992**, *40*, 2257-2259
- 6 K. Tanaka, *J. Ferment. Bioeng.* **1992**, *73*, 503-504
- 7 A. F. Cann, J. C. Liao, *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2010**, *85*, 893-899.
- 8 J. -E. Lee, G. -S. Hwang, C. -H. Lee, Y. -S. Hong, *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2009**, *57*, 10772-10783.
- 9 M. Nilsson, I. F. Duarte, C. Almeida, I. Delgadillo, B. J. Goodfellow, A. M. Gil, G. A. Morris, *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2004**, *52*, 3736-3743.

- 10 S. Chanprateep, N. Abe, H. Shimizu, T. Yamane, S. Shioya, *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **2001**, *74*, 116-124.
- 11 J. C. Mauricio, J. Moreno, L. Zea, J. M. Ortega, M. Medina, *J. Sci. Food Agric.* **1997**, *75*, 155-160.
- 12 H. Huang, Q. Li, X. Feng, B. Chen, J. Wang, L. Liu, Z. She, Y. Lin, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2010**, *48*, 496-499.
- 13 M. Nilsson, A. Botana, G. A. Morris, *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 8119-8125.
- 14 M. Khajeh, A. Botana, M. A. Bernstein, M. Nilsson, G. A. Morris, *Anal. Chem.* **2010**, *82*, 2102-2108.
- 15 C. S. Johnson, *Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc.* **1999**, *34*, 203-256.
- 16 G. A. Morris, In: *Advances in NMR, Encyclopedia of Nuclear Magnetic Resonance*, ed. D. M. Grant, R. K. Harris, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, 2002, vol. 9: pp 35-44.
- 17 Y. Cohen, L. Avram, L. Frish, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 520-554.
- 18 H. Barjat, G. A. Morris, S. Smart, A. G. Swanson, S. C. R. Williams, *J. Magn. Reson., Ser. B* **1995**, *108*, 170-172.
- 19 K. F. Morris, P. Stilbs, C. S. Johnson, *Anal. Chem.* **1994**, *66*, 211-215.
- 20 J. S. Gounarides, A. D. Chen, M. J. Shapiro, *J. Chromatogr. B* **1999**, *725*, 79-90.
- 21 P. Hodge, P. Monvisade, G. A. Morris, I. Preece, *Chem. Commun.* **2001**, 239-240.
- 22 B. A. Begotka, J. L. Hunsader, C. Oparaeché, J. K. Vincent, K. F. Morris, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2006**, *44*, 586-593.
- 23 S. Viel, F. Ziarelli, S. Caldarelli, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2003**, *100*, 9696-9698.
- 24 G. Pages, C. Delaurent, S. Caldarelli, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 5950-5953.

- 25 J. S. Kavakka, I. Kilpeläinen, S. Heikkinen, *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11*, 1349-1352.
- 26 K. F. Morris, B. A. Becker, B. C. Valle, I. M. Warner, C. K. Larive, *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2006**, *100*, 17359-17369.
- 27 R. Evans, S. Haiber, M. Nilsson, G. A. Morris, *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 4548-4550.
- 28 M. E. Zielinski, K. F. Morris, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2009**, *47*, 53-56
- 29 S. A. Kingsbury, C. J. Ducommun, B. M. Zahakaylo, E. H. Dickinson, K. F. Morris, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2010**, *48*, 184-191.
- 30 C. F. Tormena, R. Evans, S. Haiber, M. Nilsson, G. A. Morris, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2010**, *48*, 550-553.
- 31 J. S. Kavakka, V. Parviainen, K. Wähälä, I. Kilpeläinen, S. Heikkinen, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2010**, *48*, 777-781.
- 32 A. K. Rogerson, J. A. Aguilar, M. Nilsson, G. A. Morris, *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 7063-7064.
- 33 R. W. Adams, J. A. Aguilar, J. Cassani, M. Nilsson, G. A. Morris, *Org. Biol. Chem.* **2011**, *9*, 7062-7064.
- 34 M. Silva, *Electrophoresis* **2007**, *28*, 174-192.
- 35 P. H. Elworthy, A. T. Florence, C. B. Macfarlane, *Solubilisation by surface-active agents*, Chapman and Hall Ltd., London, 1968.
- 36 D. Attwood, A. T. Florence, *Surfactant Systems*, Chapman and Hall, London, 1983.
- 37 H. Wennerström, B. Lindman, *Phys. Rep.* **1979**, *52*, 1-86
- 38 B. Jonsson, M. Landgren, G. Olofsson, *Solubilization in Surfactant Aggregates*, Ed. S. D. Christian, J. F. Scamehorn, vol. 55, pp. 115, New York, 1995.
- 39 O. Söderman, P. Stilbs, *Progr. NMR Spectrosc.* **1994**, *26*, 445-482.

- 40 P. Stilbs, *J. Coll. Int. Sci.* **1982**, *87*, 385.
- 41 P. Stilbs, *J. Coll. Int. Sci.* **1982**, *89*, 547.
- 42 O. Söderman, U. Olsson, *Micellar Solutions and Microemulsions*, in: *Encyclopedia of Magnetic Resonance* (Eds.: R. K. Harris, R. E. Wasylshen), John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK, 2009.
- 43 M. D. Pelta, G. A. Morris, M. J. Stchedroff, S. J. Hammond, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2002**, *40*, S147-S152.
- 44 M. Nilsson, *J. Magn. Reson.* **2009**, *200*, 296-302.
- 45 P. Damberg, J. Jarvet, A. Gräslund, *J. Magn. Reson.* **2001**, *148*, 343-348.
- 46 G. A. Morris, H. Barjat, T. J. Horne, *Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc.* **1997**, *31*, 197-257.
- 47 M. Nilsson, M. A. Connell, A. L. Davis, G. A. Morris, *Anal. Chem.* **2006**, *78*, 3040-3045.
- 48 M. Nilsson, G. A. Morris, *Magn. Reson. Chem.* **2006**, *44*, 655-660.
- 49 S. V. Olesik, C. J. Miller, *Langmuir* **1990**, *6*, 183-187.
- 50 L. D. Giddings, S. V. Olesik, *Langmuir* **1994**, *10*, 2877-2883.
- 51 R. D. Falcone, J. J. Silber, N. M. Correa, *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *11*, 11096-11100.
- 52 S. Lapenna, A. R. Bilia, G. A. Morris, M. Nilsson, *J. Pharm. Sci.* **2009**, *98*, 3666.
- 53 CRC Handbook of chemistry and physics 84th edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA (2003).

Table 1. Experimental values for apparent association constants  $K$  and diffusion coefficients  $D$  for alcohols in aqueous SDS solution, obtained by fitting experimental data using the simple model described in the text, with literature or calculated values of  $\log P$ .

Solute	$K$	$D/(10^{-10} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1})$	$\log P$
1-butanol	$4.9 \pm 0.3$	$7.4 \pm 0.4$	$0.84^a$
2-butanol	$3.4 \pm 0.2$	$7.2 \pm 0.4$	$0.65^a$
1-pentanol	$14.6 \pm 0.6$	$6.2 \pm 0.3$	$1.51^a$
2-pentanol	$9.0 \pm 1.3$	$6.1 \pm 0.3$	$1.25^a$
3-pentanol	$7.4 \pm 1$	$6.1 \pm 0.3$	$1.21^a$
2-methyl-1-butanol	$11 \pm 1$	$6.7 \pm 0.3$	$1.37^b$
3-methyl-1-butanol	$12 \pm 1$	$6.7 \pm 0.3$	$1.28^a$
3-methyl-2-butanol	$6.9 \pm 0.7$	$6.7 \pm 0.3$	$1.28^a$
2-methyl-1-pentanol	$31 \pm 5$	$6.0 \pm 0.3$	$1.78^b$
4-methyl-1-pentanol	$36 \pm 4$	$6.0 \pm 0.6$	$1.75^a$

<sup>a</sup> Experimental value of  $\log P$  from reference [53](#); <sup>b</sup> value estimated using ChemDraw 7.0

(CambridgeSoft, Cambridge, MA, USA)

Gareth Morris 28/3/12 16:45

Deleted: 49

Table 2. Experimental values for association constants  $K$  and diffusion coefficients  $D$  for methoxyphenols and alcohols in chloroform solution containing AOT, obtained by fitting experimental data using the simple model describe in the text.

Solute	$K$	$D/(10^{-10} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1})$
<i>o</i> -methoxyphenol	$2.3 \pm 0.3$	$17 \pm 1$
<i>m</i> -methoxyphenol	$8.4 \pm 1.7$	$16 \pm 1$
<i>p</i> -methoxyphenol	$7.9 \pm 1.4$	$16 \pm 1$
1-butanol	$2.4 \pm 0.3$	$19 \pm 1$
2-butanol	$1.9 \pm 0.2$	$20 \pm 1$
1-pentanol	$3.0 \pm 0.4$	$17 \pm 1$
2-pentanol	$2.6 \pm 0.5$	$17 \pm 1$
3-pentanol	$2.2 \pm 0.4$	$18 \pm 1$
2-methyl-1-butanol	$1.7 \pm 0.1$	$17 \pm 1$
3-methyl-1-butanol	$2.0 \pm 0.2$	$17 \pm 1$
3-methyl-2-butanol	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	$17 \pm 1$

## Figure Captions

**Figure 1.** 400 MHz  $^1\text{H}$  Oneshot<sup>40</sup> DOSY spectrum, with the least attenuated 1D spectrum shown at the top, for a sample containing 20 mM of each of the methoxyphenol isomers and 52 mM AOT in  $\text{CDCl}_3$ , with TMS as reference. The signals for the 1,2-, 1,3- and 1,4-methoxyphenol isomers are labelled *ortho*, *meta* and *para* respectively.

**Figure 2. a)** diffusion coefficient as a function of AOT:D<sub>2</sub>O (1:1.2) concentration for a  $\text{CDCl}_3$  solution containing 5 mM TMS and 20 mM of each of the methoxyphenol isomers; **b)** diffusion coefficient as a function of the concentration of each of the methoxyphenol isomers for a  $\text{CDCl}_3$  solution containing 5 mM TMS and 52 mM AOT. Error bars show  $\pm 2\times$  the standard error estimated from the fit of the experimental peak heights to the modified Stejskal-Tanner equation. Solid lines for solute diffusion coefficient represent fits to Equation 2b, dotted lines the calculated surfactant diffusion coefficient from Equation 2a, for the simple model described in the text. Experimental  $D$  values for the solutes were fitted to Equation 2b, varying  $D_A^0$  and  $K$  but keeping  $D_S^0$ ,  $D_m^0$  and  $cmc$  fixed at the values given in the text.

**Figure 3. a)** diffusion coefficients as a function of SDS concentration for a  $\text{D}_2\text{O}$  solution containing 4.5 mM TSP, 18 mM 1-butanol and 20 mM 2-butanol; **b)** diffusion coefficients as a function of AOT concentration for a  $\text{CDCl}_3$  solution containing 5 mM TMS and 47 mM 1-butanol and 2-butanol. Error bars show  $\pm 2\times$  the standard error estimated from the fit. Solid lines for solute diffusion coefficient represent fits, dotted

lines the calculated surfactant diffusion coefficient, for the simple model described in the text.

**Figure 4.** **a)** diffusion coefficients as a function of SDS concentration for a D<sub>2</sub>O solution containing 5 mM TSP, 16 mM 1-pentanol, 16 mM 2-pentanol and 17 mM 3-pentanol isomers; **b)** diffusion coefficients as a function of AOT concentration for a CDCl<sub>3</sub> solution containing 5 mM TMS and 38 mM each of 1-pentanol, 2-pentanol and 3-pentanol. Error bars show  $\pm 2\times$  the standard error estimated from the fit. Solid lines for solute diffusion coefficient represent fits, dotted lines the calculated surfactant diffusion coefficient, for the simple model described in the text.

**Figure 5.** **a)** diffusion coefficients as a function of SDS concentration for a D<sub>2</sub>O solution containing 5 mM TSP, 16.8 mM 3-methyl-2-butanol, 14.8 mM 2-methyl-1-butanol and 16.8 mM 3-methyl-1-butanol isomers; **b)** diffusion coefficients as a function of AOT concentration for a CDCl<sub>3</sub> solution containing 5 mM TMS and 53 mM of each 3-methyl-1-butanol, 3-methyl-2-butanol and 2-methyl-1-butanol isomers. Error bars show  $\pm 2\times$  the standard error estimated from the fit. Solid lines for solute diffusion coefficient represent fits, dotted lines the calculated surfactant diffusion coefficient, for the simple model described in the text.

**Figure 6.** Scatter plot showing the decadic logarithm of association constant  $K$  versus logP for the alcohol solutes listed in Tables 1 and 2. Open symbols denote data for SDS solutions, filled for AOT; triangles, squares, pentagons and circles denote straight chain primary, 2-hydroxy straight chain, 3-hydroxy straight chain, and branched alcohols



respectively. The dotted line is of unit slope; the solid line, showing the result of linear regression of the data for water/SDS solutions, has a slope of 1.1 and a correlation coefficient of 95%.